# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

**WASHINGTON, DC 20549** 

# FORM S-8

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

\_\_\_\_\_

# THE RUBICON PROJECT, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

## Delaware

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

20-8881738 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

12181 Bluff Creek Drive, 4th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90094

(Address of Principal Executive Offices, Zip Code)

Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan

(Full title of the plans)

Brian W. Copple General Counsel The Rubicon Project, Inc. 12181 Bluff Creek Drive, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90094

(Name and address of agent for service)

#### (310) 207-0272

(Telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer	☑ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered(2)	Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Share	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price	Amount of Registration Fee
Common Stock of The Rubicon Project, Inc. issuable upon exercise of assumed stock options under the Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan(1)	428,798	\$4.43(3)	\$1,899,575.14(3)	\$220.73

- (1) In connection with the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Chango Inc. ("Chango") by an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of The Rubicon Project, Inc. (the "Registrant"), the Registrant has assumed outstanding options granted under Chango's Stock Option Plan.
- (2) In addition to the number of shares of the common stock, par value \$0.00001 per share (the "Common Stock") of the Registrant stated above, pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), this registration statement also covers any additional shares of Common Stock that become issuable by reason of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization or other similar transaction effected without receipt of consideration that increases the number of the Registrant's outstanding shares of Common Stock.
- (3) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(h) under the Securities Act, based upon the weighted-average exercise price per share of the options assumed by the Registrant.

#### **PART I**

#### INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE SECTION 10(a) PROSPECTUS

The information required by this Part I has been omitted from this Registration Statement pursuant to the Note to Part I of Form S-8.

#### **PART II**

# INFORMATION REQUIRED IN THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT

## Item 3. Incorporation of Documents by Reference.

The following documents filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), are incorporated by reference herein and shall be deemed to be a part hereof:

- 1. The Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 6, 2015;
- 2. The Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on May 8, 2015;
- 3. The Registrant's Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 29, 2015, March 26, 2015, March 31, 2015 (other than with respect to Item 7.01 and the related exhibit), and April 27, 2015 (other than with respect to Item 7.01 and the related exhibit); and
- 4. The description of the Common Stock contained in the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Commission under Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), on March 28, 2014, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.

In addition, all documents filed by the Registrant pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date hereof, but prior to the filing of a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement that indicates that all securities offered hereby have been sold or that deregisters all such securities then remaining unsold, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Registration Statement and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of such documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless specifically stated to the contrary in such filing, none of the information that the Registrant discloses under Items 2.02 or 7.01 of any Current Report on Form 8-K that it may from time to time furnish to the Commission will be incorporated by reference into, or otherwise be included in or deemed to be a part of, this Registration Statement.

For purposes of this Registration Statement, any document or any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated herein by reference shall be deemed to be modified or superseded to the extent that a subsequently filed document or a statement contained

herein or in any other subsequently filed document that also is or is deemed to be incorporated herein by reference modifies or supersedes such document or such statement in such document. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Registration Statement. Subject to the foregoing, all information in this Registration Statement is so qualified in its entirety by the information appearing in the documents incorporated herein by reference.

# Item 4. Description of Securities.

Not applicable.

#### Item 5. Interests of Named Experts and Counsel.

Not applicable.

#### Item 6. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

The Registrant is a Delaware corporation. Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL") allows for the indemnification of officers, directors and other corporate agents in terms sufficiently broad to indemnify such persons under certain circumstances for liabilities (including reimbursement for expenses incurred) arising under the Securities Act. Article X of the Registrant's Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Article VI of the Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws authorize indemnification of the Company's directors, officers, employees and other agents to the extent and under the circumstances permitted by the DGCL.

The Registrant's Amended and Restated Bylaws also expressly authorize the Registrant to carry directors' and officers' insurance providing indemnification to its directors and officers for some liabilities. The Registrant maintains directors' and officers' liability insurance.

In addition, the Registrant has entered into agreements to indemnify its directors and executive officers.

The above discussion of the DGCL and of the Registrant's Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Amended and Restated Bylaws, and indemnification agreements is not intended to be exhaustive and is qualified in its entirety by such statute, certificate of incorporation, bylaws and indemnification agreements.

## Item 7. Exemption from Registration Claimed.

Not applicable.

#### Item 8. Exhibits.

The Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits is incorporated herein by reference.

## Item 9. Undertakings.

- (a) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes:
- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement:
  - (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
- (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the Registration Statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and
- (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the Registration Statement or any material change to such information in the Registration Statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the Registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement;

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof; and
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the Registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-8 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Los Angeles, State of California, on May 8, 2015.

The	Rubicon	Pro	iect.	Inc.
1110	IXUDICUII	110	~~~	1110

By: /s/ Todd Tappin

Name: Todd Tappin

Title: Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Frank Addante, Todd Tappin, Brian W. Copple, and Jonathan Feldman, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments, including post-effective amendments, to this Registration Statement, and any registration statement relating to the offering covered by this Registration Statement and filed pursuant to Rule 462 under the Securities Act, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Commission, granting unto said attorneys-infact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully so or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the following persons have signed this Registration Statement in the capacities and on the date(s) indicated.

Signature	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/s/ Frank Addante	-	
Frank Addante	Chief Executive Officer and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer)	May 8, 2015

/s/ Gregory R. Raifman	_	
Gregory R. Raifman	President and Director	May 8, 2015
/s/ Todd Tappin	_	
Todd Tappin	Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer ( <i>Principal Financial Officer</i> )	May 8, 2015
/s/ David Day	_	
David Day	Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)	May 8, 2015
Sumant Mandal	Director	
/s/ Jarl Mohn	_	
Jarl Mohn	Director	May 8, 2015
Lisa. L. Troe	Director	
/s/ Robert J. Frankenberg	_	
Robert J. Frankenberg	Director	May 8, 2015
/s/ Robert F. Spillane	_	
Robert F. Spillane	Director	May 8, 2015

# **EXHIBIT INDEX**

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Description
4.1*	Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan.
5.1*	Opinion of Jonathan Feldman, Esq.
23.1*	Consent of Jonathan Feldman, Esq. (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.2*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
24.1*	Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).

<sup>\*</sup>Filed herewith.

\_\_\_\_\_

# CHANGO INC. STOCK OPTION PLAN

March 12, 2009

Amended: June 11, 2009 Amended: November 1, 2010 Amended: January 28, 2011 Amended: April 10, 2013 Amended: December 4, 2014

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE 1	PURPOSE	1
1.1	Purpose	1
ARTICLE 2	INTERPRETATION	1
2.1	Definitions	1
2.2	Interpretation	5
ARTICLE 3	ADMINISTRATION	5
3.1	Administration	5
3.2	Delegation to Committee	6
3.3	Eligibility	6
3.4	Total Common Shares Subject to Options	6
3.5	Option Agreements	7
3.6	Transferability	7
ARTICLE 4	GRANT OF OPTIONS	7
4.1	Grant of Options	7
4.2	Exercise Price	7
4.3	Term of Options	8
4.4	Exercise Period	8
4.5	Payment of Exercise Price and Deposit Receipt	8
4.6	Retirement, Death or Disability of Optionee	9
4.7	Termination of Employment or Services	10
4.8	Discretion to Permit Exercise	11
4.9	Change of Control	11
4.10	Assumption Agreement and Power of Attorney	14
4.11	Conditions of Exercise	14
4.12	Incentive Stock Options	14
ARTICLE 5	SHARE CAPITAL ADJUSTMENTS	16
5.1	General	16
5.2	Reorganization of Company's Capital	16
5.3	Other Events Affecting the Company	16

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
5.4	Immediate Exercise of Awards	16
5.5	Issue by Company of Additional Shares	17
5.6	Fractions	17
5.7	Conditions of Exercise	17
5.8	Lock-up Agreement	17
ARTICLE 6	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	18
6.1	Registration	18
6.2	Legal Requirement	18
6.3	Optionee's Entitlement	18
6.4	Withholding Taxes	18
6.5	Rights of Eligible Person/Optionee	18
6.6	Termination and Amendments	19
6.7	Indemnification	19
6.8	Participation in the Plan	19
6.9	Effective Date	20
6.10	Governing Law	20
6.11	Amendments	20

# **SCHEDULES**

Schedule "A" — Deposit Receipt
Schedule "B" — Exercise Notice
Schedule "C" — Option Agreement
Schedule "D" — Assumption Agreement
Schedule "E" — Power of Attorney

#### CHANGO INC.

#### STOCK OPTION PLAN

#### ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE

#### 1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by attracting, retaining and motivating directors, officers, key employees and consultants and providing them with a greater incentive to develop and promote the growth and success of the Company by granting to them options to purchase shares in the capital of the Company.

# ARTICLE 2 INTERPRETATION

#### 2.1 Definitions

Unless otherwise defined elsewhere herein, the following terms have the following meanings, respectively:

- (a) "Affiliate" means an "affiliate" (as defined in NI 45-106) of the Company.
- (b) "Assumption Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.10.
- (c) "Board" means the board of directors of the Company.
- (d) "Change of Control" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(a).
- (e) "Change of Control Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(a).
- (f) "Code" means the United States *Internal Revenue Code of 1986*, as amended.
- (g) "Committee" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2.
- (h) "Common Shares" means the Common shares in the capital of the Company.
- (i) "Company" means Chango Inc.
- (j) "Consultant" means a Person, other than an Employee or an Executive, who is engaged to provide on a *bona fide* basis consulting, technical, management, advisory or other services (other than services provided in relation to a distribution of securities) to the Company or an Affiliate under a written contract between the Company or an Affiliate, and who, in the reasonable opinion of the Board, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business

- of the Company or an Affiliate. In the case of an individual Consultant, "Consultant" includes the Consultant's Permitted Assigns.
- (k) "Consultant Company" means, for an individual Consultant, a company of which the individual Consultant is an employee or a shareholder.
- (l) "Consultant Partnership" means, for an individual Consultant, a partnership of which the individual Consultant is an employee or partner.
- (m) "Date of Grant" means, for any Option, the date specified by the Board at the time it grants the Option or, if no such date is specified, the date upon which the Option Agreement is signed by the Company.
- (n) "Deposit Receipt" means a receipt given to an Optionee under this Plan evidencing an Optionee's interest in Common Shares issued upon the exercise of any Options. A Deposit Receipt will be substantially in the form attached hereto as Schedule "A" (subject to such amendments thereto as the Board may, in its discretion, require from time to time).
- (o) "Director" means a member of the Board or the board of directors of an Affiliate.
- (p) "**Disabled**" or "**Disability**" means physical or mental incapacity or disability that prevents the Optionee from performing the essential duties of the Optionee's employment or service, with no reasonable prospect of timely recovery, determined in accordance with procedures established by the Board for purposes of this Plan or, for purposes of ISOs, has the meaning set forth in Section 4.12(b).
- (q) "Disqualifying Disposition" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.12(f).
- (r) "Eligible Person" means an Employee, Executive or Consultant.
- (s) "Employee" means a current full-time or part-time employee (other than an Executive or a Consultant) of the Company or an Affiliate, and includes an Employee's Permitted Assigns.
- (t) "Executive" means a Director or an Officer of the Company or an Affiliate, and includes an Executive's Permitted Assigns.
- (u) "Exercise Notice" means a notice in writing, in the form set out in <u>Schedule "B"</u> (subject to such amendments thereto as the Board may, in its discretion, require from time to time), signed by an Optionee indicating the Optionee's intention to exercise a particular Option.
- (v) "Exercise Period" means the period of time during which an Option may be exercised; provided that, the Exercise Period with respect to any particular Option shall not exceed 10 years from the Date of Grant of such Option.

- (w) "Exercise Price" means the price at which a Common Share may be purchased pursuant to the exercise of an Option.
- (x) "Expiry Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).
- (y) "Holding Entity" means a holding entity as defined in NI 45-106.
- (z) "Individual Optionee" means an Optionee who is an individual or the individual of which the Optionee is a Permitted Assign, as the case may be.
- (aa) "Investment Administrator" means, for a Person that is an Optionee, a trustee, custodian or administrator acting on behalf of, or for the benefit of the Person.
- (bb) "ISOs" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.12.
- (cc) "NI 45-106" means National Instrument 45-106 (Prospectus and Registration Exemptions) of the Canadian Securities Administrators, as amended or replaced from time to time.
- (dd) "Officer" means an "executive officer" (as defined in NI 45-106) of the Company or an Affiliate.
- (ee) "**Option**" means a right to purchase Common Shares under this Plan.
- (ff) "Optionee" means an Eligible Person who has been granted one or more Options.
- (gg) "Option Agreement" means a signed, written agreement between an Optionee and the Company, in the form attached as Schedule "C", subject to any amendments or additions as may, in the discretion of the Board, be necessary or advisable, evidencing the terms and conditions on which an Option has been granted under this Plan.
- (hh) "Permitted Assign" means:
  - (i) for an Employee or Executive:
    - (A) an Investment Administrator of the Employee or Executive;
    - (B) a Holding Entity of the Employee or Executive; or
    - (C) an RRSP or RRIF established by the Employee or Executive or under which the Employee or Executive is a beneficiary.
  - (ii) for an individual Consultant:
    - (A) a Consultant Company;
    - (B) a Consultant Partnership; or

- (C) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for an individual Consultant or under which the individual Consultant is the beneficiary.
- (ii) "Person" includes an individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, unincorporated association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated organization, trust, body corporate, and an individual or other person in that person's capacity as trustee, executor, administrator or personal or other legal representative.
- (jj) "Plan" means this stock option plan, as may be amended from time to time.
- (kk) "Power of Attorney" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.10.
- (ll) "Public Company" means a corporation, any shares of which are freely tradeable to and between members of the public without the requirement of filing a prospectus or similar document and the shares of which are traded on a published market (being any market on which shares are traded or quoted for trading if the prices at which they have been traded or quoted on that market are regularly published in a newspaper or business or financial publication of general and regular paid circulation).
- (mm) "Related Corporations" has the meaning given to it in Section 4.12(a).
- (nn) "Retirement" means retirement from active employment with the Company or an Affiliate at or after age 65 or, with the consent for purposes of the Plan of such officer of the Company as may be designated by the Board, at or after such earlier age and upon the completion of such years of service as the Board may specify.
- (oo) "RRIF" means a registered retirement income fund as defined in the Tax Act.
- (pp) "RRSP" means a registered retirement savings plan as defined in the Tax Act.
- (qq) "Shareholders Agreement" means any unanimous shareholders agreement to which the Company and all of the shareholders of the Company are a party from time to time, as amended and/or restated.
- (rr) "Tax Act" means the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) and the regulations thereunder, as may be amended from time to time.
- (ss) "Termination Date" means:
  - (i) in the case of an Individual Optionee who dies, the date of death;
  - (ii) in all other cases, the date designated by the Company or its Affiliate as the day on which the Optionee's employment, consulting agreement or arrangement, or term of office with the Company or such Affiliate ceases (as the case may be); and "Termination Date" specifically does not mean the date on which any period of notice that the Company or such Affiliate may be required to provide to the Optionee (whether under contract or

statute or otherwise at law) expires (provided that, in the case of termination by reason of voluntary resignation by the Optionee or voluntary termination by the Optionee, the Termination Date may not be earlier than the date notice of resignation or notice of voluntary termination was given by such Optionee).

# 2.2 Interpretation

- (a) Whenever the Board or, where applicable, the Committee is to exercise discretion in the administration of the terms and conditions of this Plan, the term "discretion" means the sole and absolute discretion of the Board or the Committee, as the case may be.
- (b) As used in this Plan, the terms "Article" and "Section" mean and refer to the specified Article or Section of this Plan.
- (c) Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include any other gender.
- (d) Unless otherwise specified, all references in this Plan or in any Option Agreement to money amounts are to Canadian currency.

# ARTICLE 3 ADMINISTRATION

#### 3.1 Administration

Subject to Section 3.2, this Plan will be administered by the Board, and the Board has sole and complete authority, in its discretion:

- (a) to determine the Persons (from among the Eligible Persons) to whom Options may be granted;
- (b) to grant Options in such amounts and, subject to the provisions of this Plan, on such terms and conditions as it determines including:
  - (i) the time or times at which Options may be granted;
  - (ii) the Exercise Price;
  - (iii) the time or times when each Option becomes exercisable and, subject to Section 4.3, the duration of the Exercise Period;
  - (iv) whether restrictions or limitations are to be imposed on the Common Shares issued or issuable upon the exercise of any Options and the nature of such restrictions or limitations, if any; and

- (v) any acceleration of exercisability or waiver of termination regarding any Option, based on such factors as the Board may determine;
- (c) to interpret this Plan and adopt, amend and rescind administrative guidelines and other rules and regulations relating to this Plan; and
- (d) to make all other determinations and take all other actions necessary or advisable for the implementation and administration of this Plan.

The Board's determinations and actions within its authority under this Plan are conclusive and binding on the Company and all other Persons. The day-to-day administration of the Plan may be delegated to such officers and employees of the Company or an Affiliate as the Board determines.

# 3.2 Delegation to Committee

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board may, from time to time, delegate to a committee of the Board (the "Committee") all or any of the powers conferred on the Board under the Plan. In such event, the Committee will exercise the powers delegated to it by the Board in the manner and on the terms authorized by the Board. Any decision made or action taken by the Committee arising out of or in connection with the administration or interpretation of this Plan in this context is final and conclusive.

### 3.3 Eligibility

All Employees, Executives and Consultants are eligible to participate in this Plan, subject to Sections 4.6(b) and 4.7(f). Eligibility to participate does not confer upon any Eligible Person a right to be granted Options pursuant to this Plan.

#### 3.4 Total Common Shares Subject to Options

- (a) The aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options must not exceed 2,202,591 Common Shares. No Option may be granted if such grant would have the effect of causing the total number of Common Shares subject to Options to exceed the above-noted total number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of Options. Subject to applicable law and any shareholder or other approval that may be required, the Board may in its discretion amend the Plan to increase such number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options without notice to or the consent or approval of any Optionees, Eligible Persons or any other Person.
- (b) To the extent Options terminate for any reason prior to exercise in full or are cancelled in accordance with the terms of this Plan, the Common Shares subject to such Options shall be added back to the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, and such Common Shares will again become available for grant under this Plan.

#### 3.5 Option Agreements

All Options granted under this Plan will be evidenced by Option Agreements. Such Option Agreements will be subject to the applicable provisions of this Plan and will contain such provisions as are required by this Plan and any other provisions that the Board may direct. Any one officer of the Company is authorized and empowered to execute and deliver, for and on behalf of the Company, an Option Agreement to each Optionee. In the event of any conflict between the specific terms of this Plan and the terms of any Option Agreement, the terms of the Option Agreement shall prevail to the extent of the conflict.

#### 3.6 Transferability

- (a) Except as provided in Section 3.6(b) below: (i) an Option is not assignable or transferable by any Optionee; and (ii) no assignment or transfer of Options, whether voluntary, involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, vests any interest or right in such Options in any assignee or transferee, and immediately upon such purported assignment or transfer, such Options will terminate and be of no further force or effect.
- (b) Subject to applicable law and to the prior written consent of the Board, an Option may be assigned or transferred to and from the Optionee and a Permitted Assign of the Optionee. In the event an Option is assigned or transferred in accordance with the above, it shall be a condition to the effectiveness of such assignment or transfer that the Permitted Assign enter into an Option Agreement on the same terms and conditions as the Optionee's current Option Agreement. The Permitted Assign shall also be required to execute and deliver to the Company all such other instruments as may be required by the Board in its discretion.
- (c) The obligations of each Optionee pursuant to this Plan and any Option shall be binding on the Optionee's successors, assigns, heirs, executors or administrators, as applicable. Subject to Section 4.6, in the case of an Individual Optionee an Option may only be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee.

# ARTICLE 4 GRANT OF OPTIONS

#### 4.1 Grant of Options

The Board may, from time to time, subject to the provisions of this Plan and such other terms and conditions as the Board may prescribe, grant Options to any Eligible Person.

#### 4.2 Exercise Price

The Exercise Price of any Option will be as determined by the Board (but, in the case of ISOs, must not be less than the fair market value of the Common Shares on the Date of Grant and, in the case of Options granted as contemplated by Section 4.12(d), 110% of the fair market value on the Date of Grant).

#### 4.3 Term of Options

- (a) Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in this Plan, each Option, unless otherwise specified by the Board, expires on the day after the fifth anniversary of the Date of Grant (the "Expiry Date"); provided that, in no event will the Exercise Period of an Option be permitted to exceed 10 years from its Date of Grant.
- (b) The Board shall also have the authority, exercisable at the time of granting a particular Option or at any time prior to the applicable Expiry Date, in its discretion, to extend the Expiry Date of any Option in the manner and on the terms authorized by the Board; provided that, in no event will the Exercise Period of an Option be permitted to exceed 10 years from its Date of Grant.

#### 4.4 Exercise Period

- (a) Unless otherwise specified by the Board at the time of granting an Option and except as otherwise provided in this Plan, each Option will vest and be exercisable in the following instalments:
  - (i) one-quarter (½) of the Options granted (being 25% of the Common Shares which are issuable under the Option) will vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant; and
  - (ii) over the 36 month period thereafter, on the first day of each calendar month following the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, one thirty-sixth (1/36<sup>th</sup>) of the Options that are not vested on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant (being 2.0833% of the Common Shares which are issuable under the Option) will vest and become exercisable.
- (b) The instalments of an Option that have vested and become exercisable pursuant to Sections 4.4(a)(i) and 4.4(a)(ii) will remain exercisable to and including the Expiry Date, subject to any accelerated termination and cancellation as set forth in this Plan. Each Option or instalment may be exercised at any time or from time to time, in whole or in part, for up to the total number of Common Shares with respect to which it is then exercisable.
- (c) The Board has the right to accelerate the date upon which any instalment of any Option becomes exercisable, including in connection with a Change of Control.
- (d) Subject to the provisions of this Plan and any Option Agreement, Options shall be exercised by means of a fully completed Exercise Notice delivered to the Company by or on behalf of the Optionee.

# 4.5 Payment of Exercise Price and Deposit Receipt

(a) The Exercise Notice referred to in Section 4.4(d) must be accompanied by payment in full of the aggregate Exercise Price for the Common Shares to be purchased. The Exercise Price must be paid in cash, or by certified cheque, bank draft or money

- order payable to the Company or by such other means as might be specified from time to time by the Board. No Common Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any Options until full payment therefor has been received by the Company, together with an executed Assumption Agreement and Power of Attorney in accordance with Section 4.10.
- (b) Until the Company becomes a Public Company, any certificate evidencing Common Shares purchased by an Optionee upon the exercise of any Options will be held by the Company on behalf of the Optionee. By the exercise of an Option, the Optionee shall be deemed to have irrevocably appointed the Secretary of the Company (or failing him, any other officer of the Company designated by it) his attorney to endorse in blank for transfer any certificates representing Common Shares issued on the exercise of any Options. Upon the exercise of an Option, the Company will deliver to the Optionee a Deposit Receipt (which shall be signed by the Optionee as a pre-condition to the issuance of the Common Shares issuable on the exercise of the Option):

indicating the number of Common Shares the Company is holding as a result of the exercise of such Option; and

acknowledging that the Company is holding the certificate in respect of such Common Shares on behalf of the Optionee,

all subject to the terms of the Plan. The Common Shares will not be, and cannot be required to be, unless the Board determines otherwise, released to the Optionee until the Company becomes a Public Company.

### 4.6 Retirement, Death or Disability of Optionee

Where an Optionee's employment, consulting agreement or arrangement, or term of office with the Company or an Affiliate ceases by reason of the Optionee's death, Disability or Retirement, then:

- (a) the executor or administrator of the Optionee's estate or the Optionee, as the case may be, may exercise any Options of the Optionee to the extent that the Options were exercisable on the Termination Date and the right to exercise such Options terminates on the earlier of: (i) the date that is 180 days from the Termination Date; and (ii) the Expiry Date. Any Options held by the Optionee that were not exercisable on the Termination Date immediately expire and are cancelled on the Termination Date; and
- (b) such Optionee's eligibility to receive further grants of Options under the Plan ceases on the Termination Date.

#### 4.7 Other Termination of Employment or Services

(a) Where, in the case of an Employee or Executive, an Individual Optionee's employment or term of office terminates by reason of: (i) termination by the

Company or an Affiliate without cause (whether such termination occurs with or without any or adequate reasonable notice, or with or without any or adequate compensation in lieu of such reasonable notice); or (ii) voluntary resignation by the Optionee, then any Options held by the Optionee that are exercisable at the Termination Date continue to be exercisable until the earlier of: (A) the date that is 30 days after the Termination Date; and (B) the Expiry Date. Any Options held by the Optionee that are not exercisable at the Termination Date immediately expire and are cancelled on the Termination Date.

- (b) Where, in the case of an Employee or Executive, an Individual Optionee's employment or term of office is terminated by the Company or an Affiliate for cause, then any Options held by the Optionee, whether or not exercisable at the Termination Date, immediately expire and are cancelled on the Termination Date at an hour determined by the Board, in its sole discretion.
- (c) Where, in the case of a Consultant, the Consultant's consulting agreement or arrangement terminates by reason of: (i) termination by the Company or an Affiliate for any reason whatsoever other than for breach of the consulting agreement or arrangement (whether or not such termination is effected in compliance with any termination provisions contained in the consulting agreement or arrangement); or (ii) voluntarily termination by the Optionee; or (iii) the death or Disability of the Individual Optionee, then any Options held by the Optionee that are exercisable on the Termination Date continue to be exercisable by the Optionee until the earlier of: (A) the date that is 30 days from the Termination Date; and (B) the Expiry Date. Any Options held by the Optionee that are not exercisable at the Termination Date immediately expire and are cancelled on the Termination Date.
- (d) Where, in the case of a Consultant, the Consultant's consulting agreement or arrangement is terminated by the Company or an Affiliate for breach of the consulting agreement or arrangement (whether or not such termination is effected in compliance with any termination provisions contained in the consulting agreement or arrangement), then any Options held by the Optionee, whether or not such Options are exercisable at the Termination Date, immediately expire and are cancelled on the Termination Date at an hour determined by the Board, in its sole discretion.
- (e) An Optionee's eligibility to receive further grants of Options under this Plan ceases as of the date that the Company or an Affiliate, as the case may be, provides the Optionee with written notification that the Optionee's employment, term of office, consulting agreement or arrangement, as the case may be, is terminated, notwithstanding that such date may be prior to the Termination Date.

(f) Notwithstanding Sections 4.7(a) and 4.7(c), unless the Board in its discretion otherwise determines, at any time and from time to time, Options are not affected by a change of employment or consulting arrangement within or among the Company or an Affiliate for so long as the Optionee continues to be employed by

or engaged as a consultant to, or a director or officer of, the Company or an Affiliate.

#### 4.8 Discretion to Permit Exercise

Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 4.6 and 4.7, the Board may, in its discretion, at any time prior to or following the events contemplated in such sections, permit the exercise of any or all Options held by the Optionee in the manner and on the terms authorized by the Board, except that the Board may not, in any case, authorize the exercise of an Option pursuant to this Section 4.8 beyond the Expiry Date of the particular Option.

#### 4.9 Change of Control

- (a) For the purposes of this Plan,
  - (i) "Change of Control" means the occurrence, howsoever effected, of one or more of the following with respect to the Company:
    - (A) the acquisition of the Company by any Person or related group of Persons (including, without limitation, any reorganization, merger, amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or similar transaction) resulting in the transfer, disposition or exchange of all or substantially all of the outstanding Shares in consideration for securities issued or other consideration paid by the acquiring Person or related group of Persons in a single transaction or a series of related transactions (except for a transaction or series of related transactions after the consummation of which the shareholders of the Company that held securities representing more than 50% of the aggregate voting power of all of the Company's issued and outstanding securities before such transaction or series of related transactions continue to hold securities representing more than 50% of the aggregate voting power of all of the surviving corporation's or its parent corporation's issued and outstanding securities);
    - (B) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Company to any Person (other than a Person that was, prior to such sale, transfer or other disposition, an Affiliate); or
    - (C) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company (except in connection with the distribution of assets of the Company to one or more Persons that were Affiliates prior to such event).

- (ii) "Change of Control Price" shall mean the highest price per Share of the same class or series paid or to be paid in any transaction related to a Change of Control.
- (iii) "Shares" means shares in the capital of the Company, including, without limitation, the Common Shares.
- (b) In the event of and in connection with a transaction that would constitute a Change of Control, notwithstanding anything else in this Plan but subject to the specific terms of any Option Agreement to the contrary, the Board shall have the right, in its discretion, to deal with any or all Options (or any portion thereof) issued under this Plan in the manner it deems fair and reasonable in the circumstances of the Change of Control. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in connection with a Change of Control, the Board, without any action or consent required on the part of any Optionee or Eligible Person, shall have the right to:
  - (i) determine that the Options, in whole or in part and whether vested or unvested, shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms after the Change of Control;
  - (ii) provide for the conversion or exchange of any or all Options (or any portion thereof, whether vested or unvested) into or for options, rights or other securities in any entity participating in or resulting from a Change of Control;
  - (iii) cancel any unvested Options (or any portions thereof) without payment of any kind to any Optionee;
  - (iv) accelerate the vesting of outstanding Options in accordance Section 4.9(d);
  - (v) provide for outstanding Options to be purchased as contemplated in Section 4.9(f);
  - (vi) accelerate the date by which any or all Options or any portion thereof, whether vested or unvested, must be exercised either in whole or in part;
  - (vii) deem any or all Options or any portion thereof, whether vested or unvested (including those accelerated under Section 4.9(d)) to have been exercised in whole or in part, tender, on behalf of the Optionees, the underlying Common Shares that would have been issued pursuant to the exercise of such Options to any third party purchaser in connection with the Change of Control, and pay to the Optionees on behalf of such third party purchaser an amount per underlying Common Share equal to the positive difference between the Change of Control Price of the Common Shares and the applicable Exercise Price;

- (viii) cancel any or all outstanding Options (including those accelerated under Section 4.9(d)) either in whole or in part and pay to the Optionees an amount per underlying Common Share equal to the positive difference between the Change of Control Price of the Common Shares and the applicable Exercise Price; or
- (ix) take such other actions, and combinations of the foregoing actions or any other actions permitted under this Section 4.9, as it deems fair and reasonable under the circumstances.
- (c) Upon the Company entering into an agreement relating to (and, if the Company is a Public Company, publicly announcing) a transaction which, if completed, would result in a Change of Control, the Company shall give written notice of the proposed Change of Control to each Optionee, together with a description of the effect of such Change of Control on outstanding Options, not less than ten (10) days prior to the closing of the transaction resulting in the Change of Control if the Board exercises its rights under Section 4.9(d) below. For greater certainty, if the Board makes any other determination in connection with the Change of Control of the nature contemplated in this Section 4.9, no such prior notice need be given to the Optionees, except as determined by the Board prior to or following the Change of Control.
- (d) The Board, without any action or consent required on the part of any Optionee or Eligible Person, shall have the right, in its discretion, to accelerate the vesting of any or all outstanding Options (or any portion thereof) to provide that, notwithstanding the vesting schedule or any other provision of an Option Agreement relating to the vesting of Options, such outstanding Options shall be fully vested and conditionally exercisable upon (or prior to) the completion of the Change of Control; provided, however, that the Board shall not, in any case, authorize the exercise of any Option pursuant to this Section 4.9 beyond the applicable Expiry Date. If the Board elects to accelerate the vesting of any Options, and if any of such Options are not exercised within ten (10) days following the giving of the notice contemplated in Section 4.9(c) above, such unexercised Options shall terminate and expire upon the completion of the proposed Change of Control. If, for any reason, the Change of Control does not occur within the contemplated time period, the acceleration of the vesting of the Options shall be retracted and vesting shall instead revert to the manner provided in the applicable vesting schedule or Option Agreement.
- (e) To the extent that the Change of Control would be as a result of a capital reorganization, arrangement, amalgamation or reclassification of the share capital of the Company and the Board does not accelerate the vesting of Options pursuant to Section 4.9(d) above, the Company shall make adequate provisions to ensure that, upon completion of the proposed Change of Control, the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding Options and/or the Exercise Price shall be appropriately adjusted in such manner as the Board considers equitable.

- (f) In addition to the other powers of the Board under this Section 4.9, the Board, without any action or consent required on the part of any Optionee or Eligible Person, shall have the right, in its discretion, to provide for the purchase of any or all outstanding Options (or any portion thereof) by the Company or an Affiliate or other Person upon (or prior to) the completion of the Change of Control for an amount equal to (i) the Change of Control Price of each Common Share underlying
  - the applicable Options multiplied by the number of Common Shares underlying such Options, less (ii) the aggregate Exercise Price of such Options.
- (g) If, in connection with a Change of Control, the shareholders of the Company are to receive consideration other than consideration consisting solely of cash, then the Board may determine, prior to the occurrence of the Change of Control, that upon the exercise of any Options after the Change of Control, that the Optionees shall be entitled to receive that consideration which they would have received had they exercised their Options immediately prior to the Change of Control and sold their Common Shares on the same terms and conditions as the shareholders of the Company who sold their Common Shares in connection with the Change of Control.

#### 4.10 Assumption Agreement and Power of Attorney

While the Company is not a Public Company and as a pre-condition to the issuance of Common Shares upon the exercise of Options, the Optionee shall execute and deliver to the Company (i) an assumption agreement (the "Assumption Agreement"), in the form attached to the Shareholders Agreement, or, if there is no form attached to the Shareholders Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Schedule "D" (subject to such amendments thereto as the Board may, in its discretion, require from time to time), whereby the Optionee agrees to be bound by the Shareholders Agreement; and (ii) an irrevocable power of attorney (the "Power of Attorney"), in the form attached hereto as Schedule "E" (subject to such amendments thereto as the Board may, in its discretion, require from time to time). Each Optionee acknowledges that the Shareholder Agreement, if any, may restrict transfers of Common Shares.

#### 4.11 Conditions of Exercise

Each Optionee will, when requested by the Company, sign and deliver all such documents relating to the granting or exercise of Options that the Company deems necessary or desirable.

#### 4.12 Incentive Stock Options

The following provisions apply, in addition to the other provisions of this Plan that are not inconsistent therewith, to Options intended to qualify as incentive stock options ("**ISOs**") under section 422 of the Code:

(a) Options may be granted as ISOs only to individuals who are employees of the Company or any present or future "subsidiary corporation" or "parent corporation" as those terms are defined in section 424 of the Code (collectively, "**Related** 

**Corporations**") and Options may not be granted to non-employee Directors or independent contractors.

- (b) For purposes of Sections 4.6 and 4.7 of the Plan, "**Disability**" means "permanent and total disability" as defined in subsection 22(e)(3) of the Code.
- (c) If an Optionee ceases to be employed by the Company and/or all Related Corporations other than by reason of death or Disability, Options are eligible for treatment as ISOs only if exercised no later than three months following such termination of employment.
- (d) The Exercise Price in respect of Options granted as ISOs to employees who own more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or a Related Corporation (a "10% Stockholder") may not be less than 110% of the fair market value per Common Share on the Date of Grant and the term of any ISO granted to a 10% Stockholder may not exceed five years measured from the Date of Grant.
- (e) Options held by an Optionee are eligible for treatment as ISOs only if the fair market value (determined at the Date of Grant) of the Common Shares with respect to which such Options and all other options intended to qualify as "incentive stock options" under section 422 of the Code held by such individual and granted under the Plan or any other plan of a Related Corporation and that are exercisable for the first time by such individual during any one calendar year does not exceed US\$100,000.
- (f) By accepting an Option granted as an ISO under the Plan, each Optionee agrees to notify the Company in writing immediately after such Optionee makes a Disqualifying Disposition of any stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of such ISO. For purposes of the foregoing, a "Disqualifying Disposition" is any disposition occurring on or before the later of (a) the date two years following the date the ISO was granted, or (b) the date one year following the date the ISO was exercised.
- (g) Notwithstanding that the Plan is effective when adopted by the Board, no ISO granted under the Plan may be exercised until the Plan is approved by the Company's shareholders and, if such approval is not obtained within 12 months after the date of the Board's adoption of the Plan, then all ISOs previously granted terminate and cease to be outstanding and the provisions of this Section 4.12 cease to have effect; furthermore, the Board must obtain shareholder approval within 12 months before or after any increase in the total number of shares that may be issued under the Plan or any change in the class of employees eligible to receive ISOs under the Plan.
- (h) No modification of an outstanding Option that would provide an additional benefit to an Optionee, including but not limited to a reduction of the Exercise Price or extension of the exercise period, may be made without consideration and disclosure of the likely United States federal income tax consequences to the Eligible Persons affected thereby.

- (i) Options intended to be ISOs under this Plan must be granted prior to the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) anniversary of the effective date of this Plan.
- (j) ISOs shall be neither transferable nor assignable by the Optionee other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and may be exercised, during the Optionee's lifetime, only by such Optionee.

# ARTICLE 5 SHARE CAPITAL ADJUSTMENTS

#### 5.1 General

The existence of any Options does not affect in any way the right or power of the Company or its shareholders to make, authorize or determine any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or any other change in the Company's capital structure or its business, or any amalgamation, combination, merger or consolidation involving the Company, to create or issue any bonds, debentures, Common Shares or other securities of the Company or to determine the rights and conditions attaching thereto, to effect the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or to effect any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise, whether or not any such action referred to in this section would have an adverse effect on this Plan or any Option granted hereunder.

#### 5.2 Reorganization of Company's Capital

Should the Company effect a subdivision or consolidation of Common Shares or any similar capital reorganization or a payment of a stock dividend (other than a stock dividend that is in lieu of a cash dividend), or should any other change be made in the capitalization of the Company that, in the opinion of the Board, would warrant the replacement or amendment of any existing Options in order to adjust: (i) the number of Common Shares that may be acquired on the exercise of any outstanding Options; and/or (ii) the Exercise Price of any outstanding Options in order to preserve proportionately the rights and obligations of the Optionees, the Board, in its discretion, may authorize such steps to be taken as may be equitable and appropriate to that end.

#### 5.3 Other Events Affecting the Company

In the event of an amalgamation, combination, merger or other reorganization involving the Company by exchange of Common Shares, by sale or lease of assets or otherwise, that, in the opinion of the Board, warrants the replacement or amendment of any existing Options in order to adjust: (i) the number of Common Shares that may be acquired on the exercise of any outstanding Options; or (ii) the Exercise Price of any outstanding Options in order to preserve proportionately the rights and obligations of the Optionees, the Board, in its discretion, may authorize such steps to be taken as may be equitable and appropriate to that end.

#### 5.4 Immediate Exercise of Awards

Where the Board determines that the steps provided in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 would not preserve proportionately the rights and obligations of the Optionees in the circumstances or otherwise

determines that it is appropriate, the Board, in its discretion, may permit the immediate exercise of any outstanding Options that are not otherwise exercisable.

### 5.5 Issue by Company of Additional Shares

Except as expressly provided in this Article 5, neither the issue by the Company of shares of any class or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of any class, nor the conversion or exchange of such shares or securities, affects, and no adjustment by reason thereof is to be made with respect to: (i) the number of Common Shares that may be acquired on the exercise of any outstanding Options; or (ii) the Exercise Price of any outstanding Options.

#### 5.6 Fractions

No fractional Common Shares will be issued on the exercise of an Option. Accordingly, if, as a result of any adjustment under Sections 5.2, 5.3 or 5.4, an Optionee would become entitled to a fractional Common Share, the Optionee has the right to acquire only the adjusted number of full Common Shares and no payment or other adjustment will be made with respect to the fractional Common Shares so disregarded.

#### 5.7 Conditions of Exercise

The Plan and each Option are subject to the requirement that if at any time the Board determines that the listing, registration or qualification of the Common Shares subject to such Option upon any stock exchange or under any provincial, state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any governmental body, stock exchange or of the holders of the Common Shares generally, is necessary or desirable, as a condition of, or in connection with, the granting of such Option or the issue or purchase of Common Shares thereunder, no such Option may be granted or exercised in whole or in part unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval has been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Board. The Optionees must, to the extent applicable, cooperate with the Company in relation to such listing, registration, qualification, consent or other approval and have no claim or cause of action against the Company or any of its officers or directors as a result of any failure by the Company to obtain or to take any steps to obtain any such registration, qualification or approval.

#### 5.8 Lock-up Agreement

As a condition to the grant of an Option and the issuance of Common Shares upon the exercise of an Option, if requested by the Company, an Optionee shall irrevocably agree not to sell, contract to sell, grant any option to purchase, transfer the economic risk of ownership in, make any short sale of, pledge or otherwise transfer or dispose of, any interest in any Common Shares acquired through the exercise of an Option under the terms of this Plan during such period (the "Lock-up Period") of time following the effective date of a prospectus or registration statement of the Company filed under applicable securities laws that the lead underwriter of any public offering of Common Shares (the "Lead Underwriter") shall specify. The Optionee shall further agree to sign such documents as may be requested by the Lead Underwriter to effect the foregoing and agree that

the Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to Common Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option until the end of such Lock-up Period.

# ARTICLE 6 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

#### 6.1 Registration

Subject to applicable law and all of the terms and provisions of this Plan, an Option or Common Shares acquired on the exercise of an Option by an Optionee may be registered in the name of the Optionee or in the name of a Permitted Assign of the Optionee.

#### 6.2 Legal Requirement

The Company is not obligated to grant any Options, issue any Common Shares or other securities, make any payments or take any other action if, in the opinion of the Board, in its discretion, such action would constitute a violation by an Optionee or the Company of any provision of any applicable statutory or regulatory enactment of any government or government agency.

#### 6.3 Optionee's Entitlement

Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, Options previously granted under this Plan, whether or not then exercisable, are not affected by any change in the relationship between, or ownership of, the Company and an Affiliate. For greater certainty, all Options remain valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Plan and are not affected by reason only that, at any time, an Affiliate ceases to be an Affiliate. Nothing contained in this Plan or in any Option granted under this Plan shall confer upon any Eligible Person any right to continued employment or engagement with the Company or an Affiliate or interfere in any way with the rights of the Company or an Affiliate in connection with the employment, engagement or termination of any such Eligible Person.

#### 6.4 Withholding Taxes

The exercise of each Option granted under this Plan is subject to the condition that if at any time the Company determines, in its discretion, that the satisfaction of withholding tax or other withholding liabilities is required under applicable law in respect of such exercise, such exercise is not effective unless such withholding has been effected to the satisfaction of the Company. In such circumstances, the Company may require that an Optionee pay to the Company, in addition to and in the same manner as the Exercise Price for the Common Shares, such amount as the Company is obliged to remit to the relevant taxing authority in respect of the exercise of the Option. Any such additional payment is due no later than the date as of which any amount with respect to the Option exercised first becomes includable in the gross income of the Optionee for tax purposes.

#### 6.5 Rights of Eligible Person/Optionee

No Eligible Person has any claim or right to be granted an Option (including, without limitation, an Option granted in substitution for any Option that has expired pursuant to the terms of this Plan),

and the granting of any Option is not to be construed as giving an Optionee a right to remain in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate. No Optionee has any rights as a shareholder of the Company in respect of Common Shares issuable on the exercise of rights to acquire Common Shares under any Option until the allotment and issuance to the Optionee of such Common Shares.

#### 6.6 Termination and Amendments

- (a) This Plan shall terminate and, for greater certainty, all unexercised Options terminate and expire on the earliest of:
  - (i) the date upon which no further Common Shares remain available for issuance pursuant to Options that may be granted under the Plan and no Options remain outstanding; and
  - (ii) upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, unless the Board otherwise determines in connection with the exercise of the Board's discretion under Section 4.9.

unless this Plan is renewed or extended for such further period and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.

(b) In addition, the Board may, without notice, at any time or from time to time, amend, suspend or terminate this Plan or any provisions hereof in such respects as it, in its sole discretion, determines appropriate. No such amendment, suspension or termination of this Plan, without the consent of any Optionee or the representatives of his or her estate, as applicable, alters or impairs any rights or obligations arising from any Option previously granted to an Optionee under this Plan.

#### 6.7 Indemnification

Every Director will at all times be indemnified and saved harmless by the Company from and against all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever including any income tax liability arising from any such indemnification, that such Director may sustain or incur by reason of any action, suit or proceeding, taken or threatened against the Director, otherwise than by the Company, for or in respect of any act done or omitted by the Director in respect of this Plan, such costs, charges and expenses to include any amount paid to settle such action, suit or proceeding or in satisfaction of any judgement rendered therein.

#### 6.8 Participation in the Plan

The participation of any Eligible Person in the Plan is entirely voluntary and not obligatory and is not to be interpreted as conferring upon such Eligible Person any rights or privileges other than those rights and privileges expressly provided in this Plan. In particular, participation in this Plan does not constitute a condition of employment or service nor a commitment on the part of the Company to ensure the continued employment or service of such Eligible Person. This Plan does not provide any guarantee against any loss that may result from fluctuations in the market value of

the Common Shares. The Company does not assume responsibility for the personal income or other tax consequences for the Eligible Persons and they are advised to consult with their own tax advisors.

#### **6.9** Effective Date

This Plan becomes effective on March 12, 2009 upon the approval of the Board. This Plan was amended (i) by resolution of the Board dated June 11, 2009, as described in Section 6.11(a); (ii) by resolution of the Board dated November 1, 2010, as described in Section 6.11(b); (iii) by resolution of the Board dated January 28, 2011, as described in Section 6.11(c); and (iv) by resolution of the Board dated April 10, 2013, as described in Section 6.11(d).

#### 6.10 Governing Law

This Plan is created under and is to be governed, construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.

#### 6.11 Amendments

- (a) By resolution of the Board dated June 11, 2009, Section 3.4(a) of this Plan was amended, following a 3-for-1 stock split, to reflect that the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options shall not exceed 714,864 Common Shares. The effective date of such amendment was June 11, 2009.
- (b) By resolution of the Board dated November 1, 2010, Section 3.4(a) of this Plan was further amended to increase the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options from 714,864 Common Shares to 814,864 Common Shares. The effective date of such amendment was November 1, 2010.
- (c) By resolution of the Board dated January 28, 2011, Section 3.4(a) of this Plan was further amended to increase the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options from 814,864 Common Shares to 1,402,591 Common Shares. The effective date of such amendment was January 28, 2011.
- (d) By resolution of the Board dated April 10, 2013, Section 3.4(a) of this Plan was further amended to increase the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options from 1,402,591 Common Shares to 1,702,591 Common Shares. The effective date of such amendment was April 10, 2013.
- (e) By resolution of the Board dated December 4, 2014, Section 3.4(a) of this Plan was further amended to increase the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Options from 1,702,591 Common Shares to 2,202,591 Common Shares. The effective date of such amendment was December 4, 2014.

# SCHEDULE "A"

# **DEPOSIT RECEIPT**

Optionee:		
	Name	_
		_
	Address	_
No. of Shares		(the "Deposited Shares")
This Denosit Receipt confirms that the (	Ontionee is the registered owner of the	Deposited Shares and that Chango Inc. (the
"Company") is holding the share certificat 4.5(b) of the Chango Inc. Stock Option Pla	e evidencing the Deposited Shares on beh an dated March 12, 2009, as amended and	alf of the Optionee in accordance with Section as the same may be further supplemented and my capitalized terms used herein shall have the
The Company hereby confirms that the O Shares.	ptionee is entitled to receive any dividence	ds or other distributions paid on the Deposited
This Deposit Receipt is not effective until Receipt is to serve only as confirmation of the		y and accepted by the Optionee. This Deposi nares and has no legally binding effect.
Dated:	<u>,</u> 20	
	CHANGO	INC.
	By:	
	Name:	
	Title:	
Accepted:		
Signature of Optionee		

# SCHEDULE "B"

# **EXERCISE NOTICE**

	se Common Shares of Chango Inc. (the "Company") at a purchase price o
*	"). This Exercise Notice is delivered in respect of the option to purchase Common pursuant to the Option Agreement entered into between the Company
<u> </u>	aggregate Exercise Price in cash, by certified cheque, bank draft or money orde as full payment for the Common Shares to be received upon exercise of the Option
	e Common Shares to be received upon exercise of the Option will be held by the eipt in accordance with Section 4.5(b) of the Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan as nares.
Date	Optionee's Signature

#### **SCHEDULE "C"**

#### **OPTION AGREEMENT**

Chango Inc. (the "Company") hereby grants to the Optionee named below (the "Optionee"), an option (the "Option") to purchase, in accordance with and subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions of this Agreement, together with the provisions of the Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan dated March 12, 2009, as amended and as the same may be further supplemented and amended from time to time (the "Plan"), the number of Common Shares in the capital of the Company ("Common Shares") at the price per share set forth below:

Name of Optionee:
Type of Participant: Employee, Executive, or Consultant
Date of Grant:
Total Number of Common Shares Subject to Option:
Exercise Price:

- 1. The terms and conditions of the Plan are incorporated by reference as terms and conditions of this Option Agreement and all capitalized terms used in this Agreement, unless expressly defined in a different manner, have the meanings given to them in the Plan.
- 2. Subject to Sections 4.9 and 5.4 of the Plan and unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of granting an Option, each Option is exercisable [in the instalments set forth in Section 4.4 of the Plan.] OR [in the following instalments:] [Include applicable "Expiry Date", vesting schedule, etc. where the terms of the Option are intended to depart from the time periods, etc. as set out in the Plan.]
- 3. In no event is the Option exercisable after the Expiry Date.
- 4. No fractional Common Shares will be issued on the exercise of the Option. If, as a result of any adjustment to the number of Common Shares issuable on the exercise of the Option pursuant to the Plan, the Optionee would be entitled to receive a fractional Common Share, the Optionee has the right to acquire only the adjusted number of full Common Shares and no payment or other adjustment will be made with respect to the fractional Common Shares so disregarded.
- 5. Nothing in the Plan or in this Option Agreement will affect the Company's right, or that of an Affiliate, to terminate the employment of, term of office of, or consulting agreement or arrangement with an Optionee at any time for any reason. Upon such termination, an Optionee's rights to exercise Options will be subject to restrictions and time limits for the exercise of Options. Complete details of such restrictions are set out in the Plan, and in particular in Sections 4.6 and 4.7 of the Plan.
- 6. Each notice relating to the Option, including the exercise of it, must be in writing. All notices to the Company must be delivered personally or by prepaid registered mail and

must be addressed to the Secretary of the Company. All notices to the Optionee will be addressed to the principal address of the Optionee on file with the Company. Either the Company or the Optionee may designate a different address by written notice to the other. Such notices are deemed to be received, if delivered personally, on the date of delivery, and if sent by prepaid, registered mail, on the fifth business day following the date of mailing. Any notice given by the Optionee is not binding on the Company until received.

- 7. When the issuance of Common Shares on the exercise of the Option may, in the opinion of the Company, conflict or be inconsistent with any applicable law or regulation of any governmental agency having jurisdiction, the Company reserves the right to refuse to issue such Common Shares for so long as such conflict or inconsistency remains outstanding.
- 8. Subject to Section 4.6 of the Plan, the Option granted pursuant to this Option Agreement may only be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee by the Optionee personally and, subject to Section 3.6(b) of the Plan, no assignment or transfer of the Option, whether voluntary, involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, vests any interest or right in such Option whatsoever in any assignee or transferee, and immediately upon any assignment or transfer or any attempt to make such assignment or transfer, the Option terminates and is of no further force or effect. Complete details of this restriction are set out in the Plan.
- 9. The Optionee hereby agrees that:
  - (a) any rule, regulation or determination, including the interpretation by the Board of the Plan, the Option granted hereunder and the exercise of it, is final and conclusive for all purposes and binding on all persons including the Company and the Optionee; and
  - (b) the grant of the Option does not affect in any way the right of the Company or any Affiliate to terminate the employment or service of the Optionee.
- 10. The Optionee hereby acknowledges and agrees that his/her/its participation in the grant of the Option (the "**trade**") is entirely voluntary. In that regard, the Optionee acknowledges that under applicable securities laws, participation in the trade is considered voluntary if:
  - (a) in the case of an Employee or a Permitted Assign of an Employee, the Employee or the Employee's Permitted Assign is not induced to participate in the trade by expectation of employment or continued employment of the Employee with the Company or an Affiliate;
  - (b) in the case of an Officer or a Permitted Assign of an Officer, the Officer or the Officer's Permitted Assign is not induced to participate in the trade by expectation of appointment, employment, continued appointment or continued employment of the Officer with the Company or an Affiliate; and
  - (c) in the case of a Consultant or a Permitted Assign of a Consultant, the Consultant or the Consultant's Permitted Assign is not induced to participate in the trade by expectation of engagement of the Consultant to provide services or continued engagement of the Consultant to provide services to the Company or an Affiliate.

11.	This Option Agreement has been made in and is to be construed under and in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein.
[FOR	U.S. OPTIONEES
12.	The Option granted hereby is intended to be an ISO and the Optionee acknowledges and agrees that Section 4.12 of the Plan is applicable to the Option and the Optionee.]

	CHANGO INC.
	By:
	Authorized Signatory
subject to the terms and conditions of this agree	nd hereby accept the Option to purchase Common Shares in accordance with and ement and the Plan. I understand that I may review the complete text of the Plan by the to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan governing the award of Options
Date Accepted	Optionee's Signature
	Optionee's Name (Please Print)

# SCHEDULE "D" ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made the  $\blacksquare$  day of  $\blacksquare$ ,  $20\blacksquare$ .

TO: **CHANGO INC.**, a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of Ontario, (the "**Company**")

AND TO: The Shareholders of the Company.

#### WHEREAS:

- A. All of the shareholders of the Company (the "Shareholders") are parties to a shareholders agreement, as may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof (the "Shareholders Agreement").
- B. Pursuant to the stock option plan of the Company dated March 12, 2009, as may be amended or replaced from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof (the "**Plan**"), the issuance by the Company of common shares in the capital of the Company to an Optionee (as such term is defined in the Plan) upon the exercise of Options granted to such Optionee is conditional upon the Optionee entering into this Assumption Agreement.
- C. The Optionee executing this Assumption Agreement below is desirous of exercising Options previously granted by the Company to the Optionee.
- D. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning as may attributed to such terms in the Plan.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that for good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged), the Optionee hereby covenants and agrees each with the Company and the Shareholders as follows:

- 1. <u>Recitals</u>. The Optionee acknowledges and declares that the foregoing recitals, insofar as they relate to the Optionee, are true and correct.
- 2. <u>Covenant to be Bound</u>. The Optionee covenants and agrees to be bound by the terms of the Shareholders Agreement in the same manner as if the Optionee had been an original party thereto.

- 3. <u>Jurisdiction</u>. This Assumption Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.
- 4. <u>Independent Legal Advice</u>. The Optionee hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Shareholders Agreement. By executing this Assumption Agreement, the Optionee acknowledges that he or she has been advised to seek independent legal counsel in connection with the execution of this Assumption Agreement and with respect to the Optionee's obligations and rights thereunder and under the Shareholders Agreement. The Optionee acknowledges that he or she has sought the advice of counsel and other advisors or has determined that such advice is unnecessary.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Optionee and the Company have duly executed this Assumption Agreement as of the date first above written.

Vitness	)	) Name of Optionee:	
Vitness	)		
		CHANGO INC.	
		By:	
		Name:	
		Title:	

#### **SCHEDULE "E"**

#### **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

The undersigned holder of common shares (the "Common Shares") in the capital of Chango Inc. (the "Company") hereby irrevocably appoints the Secretary of the Company (the "Attorney"), from time to time, as the sole and exclusive attorney of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote and exercise all voting, consent and similar rights of the undersigned, in a manner consistent with all resolutions passed, consents given or recommendations made by the board of directors of the Company, and/or sign any shareholder consents, with respect to all of the Common Shares that now are or hereafter registered in the name of, and/or beneficially owned by, the undersigned, and any and all other shares or securities of the Company issued or issuable on or after the date hereof (collectively, the "Shares") in accordance with the terms of this Power of Attorney.

Upon the undersigned's execution of this Power of Attorney, any and all prior powers of attorney and proxies given by the undersigned with respect to any shares of the Company (other than any power of attorney granted under the stock option plan of the Company dated March 12, 2009, as amended and as the same may be further supplemented and amended from time to time (the "ESOP") and any power of attorney granted under or pursuant to the Shareholders Agreement (as defined in the ESOP)) are hereby revoked and the undersigned agrees not to grant any subsequent powers of attorney or proxies with respect to the shares. This Power of Attorney may be exercised during any subsequent legal incapacity on the undersigned's part.

This Power of Attorney is coupled with an interest and is granted pursuant to the ESOP and is granted in consideration of the Company issuing to the undersigned Common Shares upon the exercise of previously granted stock options. The provisions of this Power of Attorney relating to the Common Shares shall apply, *mutatis mutandis*, to any shares or securities into which the Common Shares may be converted, exchanged, changed, reclassified, redesignated, subdivided or consolidated, any shares or securities which entitle the holder thereof to vote at any meeting of shareholders of the Company which may be distributed on the Common Shares as a stock dividend or otherwise and any shares or securities of the Company or of any successor corporation which may be received on or in respect of the Common Shares on a reorganization, amalgamation, consolidation or merger, statutory or otherwise.

This Power of Attorney shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. This Power of Attorney is intended to be a continuing power of attorney within the meaning of and governed by the *Substitute Decisions Act* (Ontario), or any similar power of attorney under equivalent legislation in any of the provinces or territories of Canada (a "CPOA"). The execution of this Power of Attorney does not terminate any CPOA granted previously and this Power of Attorney is not terminated by the execution by the undersigned in the future of a CPOA, and the undersigned hereby agrees not to take any action that results in the termination of this Power of Attorney prior to the termination hereof. Any proxy executed and delivered pursuant hereto relating to any meeting of shareholders or any adjournments thereof shall revoke any proxy otherwise executed and delivered by or on behalf of the undersigned with respect to such meeting or any adjournments thereof, regardless of the respective dates thereof.

The undersigned hereby agrees that the Attorney will have no liability or responsibility whatsoever by reason of any loss or damage to the undersigned arising out of or in consequence of any mistake or error of law or fact on any matter or thing done or omitted to be done in connection with the exercise of the rights granted hereunder.

Any obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the undersigned.

This Power of Attorney shall terminate, and be of no further force and effect, upon the earlier of: (i) the undersigned ceasing to be a security holder of the Company; and (ii) upon the Company becoming a Public Company (as defined in the ESOP).

SIGNED, SEALED and DELIVERED
in the presence of:

Witness
Signature of Shareholder

Witness
Witness

Delivered
Deliv

**DATED** the  $\blacksquare$  day of  $\blacksquare$ , 20 $\blacksquare$ .



May 8, 2015

The Rubicon Project, Inc. 12181 Bluff Creek Drive, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Los Angeles, CA 90094

Re: The Rubicon Project, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-8

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

I have examined the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (the "Registration Statement") of The Rubicon Project, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in connection with the offering by the Company of up to 428,798 shares (the "Shares") of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.00001 per share ("Common Stock"), that are subject to issuance upon the exercise of options granted under the Chango Inc. Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"). The options issuable under the Plan were assumed by the Company pursuant to the terms of that certain Arrangement Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2015, pursuant to which a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Chango, with Chango becoming an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

In arriving at the opinion expressed below, I have examined the originals, or photostatic or certified copies, of such records of the Company and certificates of officers of the Company and of public officials and such other documents as I have deemed relevant and necessary as the basis for the opinions set forth below. In my examination, I have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity and competency of all natural persons, the authenticity of all documents submitted to me as originals and the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to me as copies.

Based upon the foregoing examination and in reliance thereon, and subject to the assumptions stated herein and in reliance on statements of fact contained in the documents that I have examined, I am of the opinion that the Shares, when issued and sold in accordance with the terms set forth in the Plan and against payment therefor, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.



This opinion is limited to the effect of the current state of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the facts as they currently exist. I assume no obligation to revise or supplement this opinion in the event of future changes in such laws or the interpretation thereof or such facts.

I consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement. In giving this consent, I do not thereby admit that I am within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission.

Very truly yours,		
/s/ Jonathan Feldman		
Ionathan Feldman		

# CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement on Form S-8 of our report dated March 6, 2015 relating to the financial statements, which appears in The Rubicon Project, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Los Angeles, California May 8, 2015